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THE CHILDREN’S COURT OF NEW SOUTH WALES
Children’s Law News


IN THE CHILDREN’S COURT NOWRA 

SITTING AT LIDCOMBE

CRAWFORD, CM

Tuesday 23 March 2004

IN THE MATTER OF THE DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY SERVICES AND THE “YOUNG” CHILDREN

REASONS FOR JUDGMENT

1. The application before the court concerns the welfare of the children-

“Ryan Young” born 1996

“Serena Young” born 1997 

“Tristan Young” born l998

The mother of the children is “Ms Young” (born 1969).

The father of the children is “Mr Young” (born 1967).

2.  The children have a younger half sibling “Nathan” who is in the care of a relative in the ACT.  The Mr Young since his divorce to the mother has married Mrs Sue Young.  Mrs Sue Young has four children (one resides with the child’s father, a grown up “T” and “TY” (l3) and “B” (8) who are presently in care).

Background

3.  The parents married on l2.ll.94 having lived together for l2 months before the marriage.  The birth of the three children followed close upon each other.  The marriage was one of conflict (verbally and physically) virtually from the outset.  Ms Young made claims of unfounded criticism and “daily violence”.  Mr Young claims that Ms Young was lazy, neglected the children’s care and he was forced to do all the housework.   Ms Young answers this by saying that his standards for care of the home were unreasonably high.  

4.  Mr Young was a heavy user of cannabis.  I do not believe it was claimed that Ms Young was a user.

5.  The parents separated with Mr Young leaving the home in l997 when Ms Young was 3 months pregnant with Tristan.   While Mr Young resided in the home there were no reports concerning the children’s care.   Within 8 months of Tristan’s birth the reports commenced to be received with a consistent a theme of the unhygienic conditions of the home.   Consistent with the second notification (25.3.99), Tristan was admitted to hospital as a “failure to thrive” baby.  The other children went into care for a short term under a temporary care agreement with the mother.  Tristan’s condition was of great concern and he was severely undernourished. Various supports were put into place. The children returned to the mother’s care (on l6.4.99) although one has a distinct feeling that the risk assessment was either inadequate or too limited in its scope. 

6.  Despite these support services, the notifications continued (20.8.99; 29.ll.99, l.6.00).

7.  In this intervening period Ms Young had formed a relationship with ‘Mr Mason’, shortly thereafter became pregnant and the child Nathan was born (30.l.2000).  They separated during the currency of the first care application (on 3l.l0.2000).

The first care application

8.  The first care application pursuant to the l987 legislation, was filed on the 25.7.00 alleging all four children to be in need of care and protection on the ground that “adequate provision is not being made, or is not likely not to be made” for the children.  The children were found to be in need of care and protection on the l2.l0.00. 

9.  The case concluded on the l5.3.01 and these children were placed in the care of their father for l2months (along with undertakings from each parent) and a supervision order.  Nathan was declared to be a ward for a term of l2 months. 

10.  It is noteworthy that the child Nicolas has exhibited “failure to thrive” and delayed development (just as Tristan had done so) due to inadequate food intake and lack of environmental stimulation.   His condition too was quite serious.

11.  It is a sobering reminder those who may look upon neglect as a “lesser” form of child mistreatment that both Nathan and Tristan while in Ms Young’s care have been so inadequately cared for as to risk the loss of the opportunity for each to reach his full potential in life.   While the term “neglected” is no longer used in the legislation I have used it as a broad, common usage descriptive word rather than in any legal or technical sense.  There has been speculation that Ryan’s attention seeking behaviour could be related to an absence of maternal care when he was younger.

12.  A report (l6.2.01) of the Shoalhaven Women’s Health Centre (who have been involved with the mother since November 2000) outlined the formidable the range of services provided to assist Ms. Young, being –

· assistance with finance and budgeting;

· a l23 Magic program run by family support;

· an enrolment in a health/hygiene course run by TAFE;

· a program “Growing a child” run by Centacare;

· individual counselling.

13.  Additionally Ms Young was credited with helping to establish a support group for other persons in her position, joined the library and read books to assist her personal growth.

14. The court in its orders substantially adopted the recommendations of the Department but for a 2 year term rather than during the children’s minority.

The second care application
15. The second application was filed by the Department pursuant to s.90 of the l998 Act on the 5/l2/01 (ie almost 9 months into the duration of the care order) and oddly only sought a variation by increasing the frequency of contact to the mother. The application took some 5 months to be resolved by which time the order had expired  (the status quo being maintained by the interim order). The issue of who should exercise the care of the children was revisited in these proceedings notwithstanding the narrow way in which the application was framed. The mother sought an extension of contact that effectively involved a shared caring arrangement (I interpreted this as being a stepping stone to eventually seeking full care responsibility for the children).   

16. The physical care of the children had significantly improved in the care of their father.  There were two notifications while the children were in his care concerning a lack of supervision.  There were concerns that Mr Young had not fully fulfilled the requirements of all his undertakings to the court. The relationship between the parents continued to be difficult and impacted adversely on contact.  Significantly Mr Young had formed a relationship with “Sue E” (later to become Sue Young) who brought to the home her two youngest children.  The blending of the children of the two families had challenges that were not foreseen by the parents and this placed some strain upon the parents and upon their marriage.  Those concern however, from the court’s perspective were overtaken by the emergence of serious issues of domestic violence. 

17. The recommendation made to the court was one of parental responsibility in favour of the father during the minority of each child (ie. until l8 years of age).  The evidence of Elizabeth Ryan (affidavit filed 7/2/02, para l4) summarises the dilemma in which such recommendation was made to the court.

“The simple view of the situation is that ‘Mr Young’ has provided a good standard (of) care for the children for an extended period of time. The issue of Domestic Violence is a concern and cannot be discounted. Equally ‘Ms Young’ has made significant positive steps and has also improved the level of care that she provides for her children and it is felt that given this, there is no reason why she should not have a greater share of care of the children then she currently has”. 

18. The court on the 2nd May 2002 made an order of parental responsibility in favour of the father for 2 years and a supervision order for the maximum statutory period of l2 months.   The care plan proposed contact to the mother in general terms of 6 days a fortnight with shared contact during school holidays.

The present (third) care application

19. The department has filed (5th December 2002) an application seeking that the present order be varied.  The application once again seeks to ventilate the issue of the long- term care of the children.  Unfortunately this application has followed slow track of its predecessors with evidence finally being taken on 2nd, 3rd and 4th December 2003 and lst, 2nd, 3rd and 4th March 2004.

The Law

20. The court has to approach the application by a two-stage process although the same evidence is essentially relevant at each stage.  The court must first determine if the existing care order should be varied/rescinded.  If rescinded the court may then make any order that it could have made originally.  The existing order is one allocating parental responsibility.  What is sought is an order of parental responsibility but of longer duration and in favour of another party or parties.  I find that a  “variation” of the existing order is the correct term (although the distinction between “rescission” and “variation” in these circumstances is of little practical consequence.). 

21.  No submission has been made that the order simple be allowed to run its course until May this year. It is clear that there are still significant child protection issues concerning the capacity of either parent to meet the physical, social and emotional needs of the children. Ryan and Tristan have special needs.  

Section 90(6) provides that the court in making such determination must take into  consideration the following-

(a) the age of the child;

(b) the wishes of the child (and the weight to be given to those wishes);

(c) the length of time the child has been in the care of the present caregivers;

(d) the strength of the child’s attachments to the birth parents and present caregivers;

(e) the capacity of the birth parents to provide an adequate standard of care for the child;

(f) the risk to the child of psychological harm if present care arrangements are varied or rescinded.

   S.90(7) If the Children’s Court is satisfied, on an application made to it with   respect to a child..that it is appropriate to do so:

(a) it may, by order, vary or rescind an order for the care and protection of the child ..and

(b) if it rescinds such order – it may, in accordance with this Chapter, make any one of the orders that it could have made in relation to the child..had an application been made to it with respect to the child.

22.  Section 90(5) is a provision of the legislation that its obvious intent is obscured by its terminology.  The provision is of no significant in this case as there are no new contested (grounds) issues. 

23. Section 83 probably does not apply to a variation application in these circumstances.  Section 78A, 79, 80, 81, 8 and 9 are clearly applicable.

Addressing the Section 90(6) issues
The ages of the children
24.  The children are young. They are not able to participate in the proceedings.  They are aware of the proceedings and its consequences (to a greater extent than has been desirable for their peace of mind). The ages are directly relates to their stage of development. They are still almost wholly dependent on adults to meet their physical, medical, educational and largely emotional needs. They have a pressing need for stability, predictability and competency in their care.  They require the care of an adult who is capable, attentive and effective in their care and will do so well into the future. Their ongoing dependence is to be given significant weight when considering the duration of any order.

Wishes of the children

25.  The wishes of the children are always important to be listened to. They are likely to have divided loyalties between their mother and father but be conscious of their conflict. Any expression of their wishes is likely to be coloured by a desire not to hurt the feelings of one parent or the other.  I have some information concerning a preference to reside with their mother but I do not feel confident in placing great weight upon it. 

Length of time in care of present caregivers

26.  This consideration reflects the benefit of consistency in a child’s upbringing. This factor would be more significant if removal from either parent was being proposed. The children seem to have moved readily between the households of the father and mother.   

Strength of attachments to parents
27. There is insufficient current information available to the court on this issue. Attachment should not be confused with the expressed wishes of the children the absence of expressed dislike. The children seem to be generally comfortable with each parent but I am not sure that this is an assurance of a secure attachment.

Capacity of parents to provide an adequate standard of care for the children
28.  If “care” is given its broadest meaning of meeting all the physical, educational, health, social, emotional needs of the child as they arise, then this is really the crux of this case.  Purely in a sense of meeting the basic physical needs of the children then each parent (and Mrs Sue Young) is adequate. Aspects of care that would fall for consideration under this heading are dealt with throughout these reasons.

The risk of psychological harm if the present order is rescinded or varied
29. There is no evidence identifying a basis to conclude any of the children will be at risk of psychological harm if the order is varied in the way sought.   This does not however imply that the court is necessarily satisfied all outstanding psychological concerns have been addressed.

Should the order be varied?

30.  After considering the evidence as a whole on these issues I am “satisfied” that it is “appropriate” to vary the order. The evidence is overwhelming on this point. I now turn to consider the manner in which the order should be varied.

31. Though being final orders, each of the orders in the earlier proceedings had overtones of a temporary (or trial) approach.  Permanency was not addressed satisfactorily.  A variation of the order will provide an opportunity to address from a longer-term perspective, the children’s care. The children (Ryan in particular) still have special needs.  His recent provisional diagnosis of Asberger’s syndrome may be a life long disability. There is a range of other issues with Ryan’s development.

32.  I now turn to consider the manner in which the order should be varied.

Short-term as opposed to long-term order

33.  In one sense it is an artificial divide to deal with the duration of an order separately from the type of order as there is considerable overlap between the issues.

34.  The submission on behalf of the mother proposes orders for 2 years.  An order until l8 was accepted as a fall back position if the court found it to be necessary in terms of the legislation.

35.  An order of any duration has a potentially for intrusive into the lives of the children and parents.  The longer the duration of order the greater the potential. The court is required to make “the least intrusive intervention...that is consistent with the paramount concern to protect the child…from harm and promote the child’s…development” (s.9(d)).

36.  In considering the duration of any order there are the lessons from the past. Permanency, in terms of earlier orders, was not resolved.  It is not helpful to the children’s welfare and for effective administration of the family’s that there be ongoing rounds of (protracted) litigation into the future.  Management of the case should not be left to be crisis driven. The parents are never likely to resolve issues the children’s upbringing.  The question is fairly asked by the legal representative for the Department and the separate representative of the children – “what happens at the end of the 2 years?”  The very active involvement of the Department and agencies with this family now for many years serves as a measure against which the most favourable pace of future positive change can be gauged. The children’s needs are, if anything, going to become more complex as they become older.

37.  I cannot identify with confidence any future fixed point in time when the court will cease have a “concern to protect the child…from harm and promote the child’s…development” in a real sense. I reject the submission for the making of a 2 year order (or other short-term order) and consistent with the principles in s.9 propose to make orders for parental responsibility during the children’s minority.

Options for Placement

38.  The options that are presented to the court then become –

(a) long-term care to the mother;

(b) long-term care to the father;

(c) joint care between the Minister and mother (with sole care in respect of residence to the Minister).

Submission that children’s placements should be split - rejected
39.  A submission was made on behalf of the father that one option was for Ryan to remain in the care of his mother while Tristan and Serena return to the care of their father.   I reject this option due to the lack of evidence supporting it.  The one constant in the children’s lives has been each other.  I would be concerned with splitting up the boys. I am not sure that such a proposal would enhance contact or simply add to its complexity.   The children would probably see each other at school (and on contact) but I have no guarantee the parents would continue to reside in reasonably proximity.  If there are sufficient concerns that all the children should not live together with either their mother or father, then I see no good reasons why those concerns will not continue to apply equally if some or one such child was living with that parent.  The parent’s deficiencies are not specific to a particular child. The separated child would obviously feel to have been singled out.  The effects of this are unknown. The separation may well cause distress for or friction between the children.    I would adopt such a course only after receiving compelling expert evidence and there is none.

Long-term care with the father- rejected
40.  The evidence generally seems to establish that after the children were placed in Mr Young’s care their overall physical condition and presentation very greatly improved. There is no real issue of his competence to meet the children’s physical needs.  Mrs Sue Young is potentially an additional support if they could sort out their relationship.

41.  The concern with Mr Young’s parenting relates to his poor impulse control and especially how this has contributed to domestic violence issues that have arisen in each of his relationships.  The experience with “T”, shows the potential for children to become more directly drawn into domestic violence incidents between adults as they grow older.

42.  Mr Young suffered serious head injuries as the result of an accident.  He has some deficits as a consequence.  The expert opinion of Dr.Freestone is that this are not a barrier to his caring for the children given the experience of his past care of the children.  In expressing that opinion Dr.Freestone was looking at he present stage of development of the children and not a longer perspective.  He did not see the children and he did not see Mrs Sue Young.

43.  There are concerns with Mrs Sue Young - relationship issues, her emotional state and how well she is coping generally with the personal issues in her life.  She also suffers quite debilitating chronic pain due to a medical condition.

44.  There are concerns about Mr. Young’s criticism of his former wife and his lack of insight of how this puts pressure on and emotionally impacts on the children.

45.  Finally, there is the issue of cannabis use by both Mr. Young and Mrs Sue Young.

Poor impulse control/domestic violence

46.  Mr Young’s poor impulse control on occasions and particularly as it presents in incidents involving violence, is of great concern.   The incidents as outlined in the evidence have been referred to in submissions and I do not again propose to detail them again. Even allowing for a more favourable gloss version of events in Mr Young’s testimony, the overall picture is of very real concern.  Mr Young’s poor impulse control results in him overreacting (or poorly responding) to ordinary frustrations and stresses in life and in his relationships. His behaviour goes beyond being loud, persistent (and I gather is characteristics in any event) but to being aggressive and physically violent. According to the evidence of Ms Young violence continued throughout their marriage.  It has continued into the marriage with Mrs Sue Young.  There are many incidents.   Domestic violence incidents have occurred in front of his children.  They have occurred in the presence of Mrs Sue Young’s children.  They have necessitated the police being called; the making of an AVO order, a breach of an AVO, a period of imprisonment, incidents at the hospital, incidents at the school, incidents observed by school staff, an invitation to engage in a fight with the headmaster.

47.  I have no doubt that removed from the sobering atmosphere of the court room, Mr.Young, with an supposed grievance fixed firmly in his mind can be loud, confrontational, intimidating, insistent -- and once wound up, very difficult to get off the topic.   His cannabis use makes his already poor impulse control worse (Dr.Freestone).   He has caused injuries.  His conduct has been beyond his self-control both in private and public areas.  The children have been aware of the ongoing heated arguments, the violence and the cannabis.  

48. Brief evidence was given of the detrimental effects of domestic violence on children by Dr.Freestone.  Such detrimental effects on children of being exposed by witnessing domestic violence are, I find to be, so sufficiently a matter of common knowledge in the community that express proof of the fact is no longer required (see Evidence Act 1995, s.144).  (For other references dealing with the adverse effects of domestic violence on children see“Children, young people and domestic violence” Dr.Lesley Laing, Australian Domestic & Family Violence Clearinghouse, Uni.NSW (2000);  “Child Abuse and domestic Violence – a child protection prespective”, NSW Child Protection Council (l996); “Exploring family violence, Links between child maltreatment and domestic violence” A.M.Tomison, National Child Protection Clearinghouse issues paper published by the Australian Institute of Family Studies (2000);  “Children’s Witnessing of Adult Domestic Violence” (1999) 14 Journal of Interpersonal Violence 839).

49.  Substantially Mr Young concedes that the many incidents did occur but recalls the details differently.  His memory of some incidents was not very complete.   Even when the details were drawn to his attention during questioning and he responded, I was left in some uncertainty of how much he recalled the actual event or whether he was speaking to a recollection of what he or others had said about the incident.

50.  Mrs Sue Young seemed at some pains to impress upon the court that her own behaviour has contributed to an escalation of incidents (but not to the violence).  It probably is correct that the stresses in her life have placed pressures on the relationship and that Mr Young has not always responded to those tensions in a peaceful way. I feel unable to separate out the contribution of each but this in itself has implications for placing the children in that household. If each is in some way contributing to an escalation of incidents that ultimately leads to violence then there are two people that have issues that need to be addressed not just Mr.Young. A further inference is that in such a case Mrs Sue Young may be less effective in protecting the children from any heated arguments or violence if she is not behaving rationally herself.  Her professed loyalty to Mr Young may lead her to downplay the significance of his bad behaviour.   This would be an added concern.  Mr. Young and Mrs Sue Young have been involved in relationship counselling but I feel there is still some way to go with such assistance. 

51.  I note that Mr.Young’s criminal record contains entries relating to matters of violence.

52.  Mr. Young was much calmer when he gave evidence in February from when he testified in December.  He was reflective in his answers. I was impressed that Mr and Mrs Sue Young are working very hard on making their marriage successful under what have been very considerable pressures.  They are obviously working through these issues in their own way as well as by formal counselling and that is encouraging for the future.  The opinion expressed that the stress in the home would be lessened if the children were living there I find to be quite unrealistic. 

53.  The children have been aware of (or witnessed) violent incident and it has affected them (e.g. Affidavit of Elizabeth Ryan, ex.2 para. 9 records this conversation with Ryan who was about 8 years old “I don’t want to go home today because dad keeps hitting Sue and throwing her against the wall, we hide in the wardrobe”.)  Sue is someone the children have some affection for.  This pushing of Sue up against the wall has come up more than once.  Ryan repeated the same during the Royal Far West Children’s Assessment – “Ryan said that his father was ‘mean’ and fought with his step mother.  Ryan said that his father would often push his step-mother up against the wall” (Exh 33 at page 4).  Ryan then went on to describe an incident of violence and injury to himself. Even more graphic is the conversations with “T” and “B” (Exh.3).  

 54.  I quote from the Children’s Court Clinic report –

“The evidence of trauma relating to the domestic violence and blended family issues is to be found in the “acting out” behaviour reported by the school. Ryan’s behaviour was reported to be very violent to peers on and off throughout the year and he was suspended at the end of the year. More evidence of this trauma came from my observation of the range of emotions relating to the fights between Sue and “Mr Young” when he was telling me about it, his fear, anger, and his pity for his father when he was manhandled by the Police. Confusing and disturbing emotions for a small boy” (pp.30-31).    

55. While the children have not been directly physically involved in this violence between Mr.Young and his wives, there is certainly instances of aggressive conduct that have a measure of lack of self control about them.  They have caused concerns to other persons (e.g. the incident of Tristan in the park).   I note that Serena had memorised the telephone number of the police and knew how to telephone them for assistance (apparently mimicking Tiffany’s calling of the police).  I believe it was Ryan who has said that when a domestic violence incident was occurring he told his father to “chill out” but his father took no notice. 

56.  This last snippet of evidence sums up the situation graphically.  Here is a young child witnessing a very distressing violent incident in the home – but it is the child who is trying to bring under control the adult (his father) who is either unwilling or unable to control his own violent behaviour.

57.  Particularly in the case of the eldest child Ryan, these violent incidents have imprinted themselves in his memory in association with his father as a violent person and they are still recalled clearly some time after the events and his return to his mother’s home.

58.  There are other unsatisfactory aspects of this lack of self-control by Mr Young or simply a lack of insight into the way his behaviour impacts on the children.  These include denigrating the mother to the children. This has its origin in a very genuine concern for the children care.  The also sounds out the children to find out what is happening in Ms Young’s home.  I am satisfied that he does not appreciation that such questioning pressures the children by placing them in a difficult position of being “disloyal” to their mother by saying something or “disloyal” to their father by not.

59.  Both Mr Young and Sue Young have been consistent users of cannabis and continue to be so.  The court was sought to be reassured in this regard, by an undertaking by Mr Young to undergo urinalysis if required by the court.  Even if one accepts this undertaking as being given in good faith, how realistic is this? Mr Young has not been totally frank about his current use of cannabis and I found Mrs Sue Young’s evidence on this point the more reliable.  The same assurance has been given by Mr.Young in the past (Clinic Report p.l5). An affidavit of Mr Young as far back as 2000 (attested to 6.l2.00) expressed his intention not to use cannabis in the future as he no longer felt the need to use the drug. 

60.  His drug use has been on-going and a long standing.  There is no proposal for drug counselling that may enhance his insight into the nature of his dependence and for assist with strategies for living without the desire for the drug. To compound the matter, Mrs Sue Young is also a constant user of the drug so the drug issue in the household would have to be satisfactorily dealt with for each of them. 

61.  I note the comments of the Children’s Court Clinician (page 26 of report Exhibit 23) as to the impact of cannabis use.  I also recall reading a reference in the evidence to concerns of the children having missed the morning bus because Mr.Young could not be woken. This is very suggestive of the effects of drug use. I note the introduction of a concern about paranoia by the clinician – whether or not this is linked to what seem to be ideas of reference in the report of Dr. Freeman, to cannabis use or the head injury could warrant further investigation.

62.  The children are well aware of the cannabis use and its effects on the father.

63.  I then have to consider Mrs Sue Young as a carer and her emotional state.  Dr.Freestone (though not having interviewed her) felt some psychiatric intervention may be helpful to her.  It would inevitably be a source of distress for her if she was caring for Mr Young’s children while still grieving for her own children who remain in care.  Mrs Sue Young is clearly dealing with difficult emotional issues at the moment.

64.  Mr Young has many positives.  The children seem very open to his affection and encouraged by his interest in them. He is fit and able to engage in playing games with them. He is intensely anxious about their welfare.  He loves them and worries about their care and their future.  He would prefer for the children to be placed in a good out of home placement than be left in the care of Ms Young.  The welfare of the children must however be paramount over the wishes of the parent.

65.  If a request was made, I would hope that the Department would assist Mr Young and Mrs Sue Young with referrals for further relationship counselling and drug dependence counselling.

66.  On a totality of the evidence I do not find that placing the children in the full time care of Mr Young is consistent with the children’s safety, welfare and well-being being the paramount consideration.

Long-term placement with Ms Young

67.  The care plan filed in this matter had proposed an order of parental responsibility in favour of the Minister until each child attained the age of l8 years. It was proposed by the Minister that the day-to-day care of the children would remain with Ms Young.    Events of recent times has caused the Director-General to modify this recommendation by proposing that there be shared parental responsibility between the Minister and mother for all matters of parental responsibility except residence.  This would be the sole responsibility of the Minister.

68.  The rationale for this proposal is that the Minister wishes to preserve the option of removing the children from Young’s care if there is a deterioration in their living circumstances or if further assessment support this being in the children’s long-term interests.

69.  Obviously the deterioration in the home has been a factor in the change of recommendation by the Director-General but that deterioration has generated a re-evaluation of the objectives of intervention against the background history of intensive intervention in this family.

70.  The care by the mother of the children appears to have been largely satisfactory during the greater part of 2003.  Events preceding and following Christmas of 2003 in particular have again raised concerns the sustainability of a satisfactory level of care for the children even with, what has continued to be, a comprehensive array of supports.   

71.  The management of cases that require ongoing and long-term commitment by the Department and other agencies, generate their own issues – such as an adequate sharing of information, consistent supervision (especially at times of particular stress for Ms Young), re-evaluation of objectives and a monitoring of demonstrated progress, a necessary refocusing of efforts, ongoing planning that seeks to anticipate and avert crises, and continuity of staff.   During the mid to latter part of 2003 there was certainly a drop in the intensity of direct involvement by the Department due to staffing issues.  I am pleased that the representative of the Department has conceded that as the co-ordinating agency things could have been done better.   I find no criticism in the assistance that was being given to Ms Young.

72.  While these information sharing and co-ordination deficiencies may have contributed to the emerging problems remaining undiscovered as they did (and how fortunate it was that the officer did make the unannounced visit) the sole responsibility for the deplorable deterioration in the children’s living conditions lies only with Ms Young.  She was fully aware of the deterioration.  She had assistance that she could have called on but she did not.  In this regard she was deliberately inactive even where there was a relationship with the support agencies that was based on openness and mutual trust. 

73.  It is now proposed that a further agency be brought into the picture being an organisation called Southern Cross that is to provide ongoing assistance in the home for the boys and some carrying out of home duties for Ms Young.  This is a shift in direction from family supports whose role has been to give guidance and advice rather than actually doing the housework.  Southern Cross has not yet engaged with the family.  Providing services (up to ll hours per week) in the home raises its own issues of privacy, personality issues, establishing of boundaries and routines, clarification of objectives, monitoring role (if any), feed back to other agencies.    Unfortunately there is no information provided directly from this agency as to how they see their role.   It certainly seems to be a recognition that Ms Young has not been able to take on board and then apply fully the model of intervention provided by the family support agency.

74.  Ms Young has been engaged with various services for years. During this interaction she has taken on board the concepts associated with good parents at an intellectual level. That is a good feature that can be built upon. The home environment in which the children life is not for them an intellectual exercise.  There appears to be a gap between the theory and the application especially and especially sustaining a satisfactory level of care. The adults involved in the matter have a duty to the children that the reality Ms Young’s deficiencies in her parenting does not become obscured in her eagerness to co-operate such that she becomes a “criticism free zone”. Related to this is a concern that when the problem is not satisfactorily addressed, the response is to redefine the problem and then present this as progress. I feel an example of this is the recent “brain storming” exercise that has identified Ms Young as having a mental “block” about housework.   I would have thought it was obvious that the history of neglect of the state of the home and children and the failure to thrive of the two children was an indication of a deeper psychological issue than that Ms Young was just bone idle or disorganised in her home duties skills.

75.  It does appear from the evidence that Ms Young is able to attain a level of care that those people feel is satisfactory and when there are no other significant pressures on her. An important issue is sustainability.

Mother’s case rejected as to the limited perspective of neglect

76.  There were two key propositions that were put as part of the mother’s case.  Firstly, that while the house was neglected the children were not.    Secondly, that while the mother was neglecting the house she did so while placing a higher priority on meeting the children’s emotional needs and by inference, this was a good thing (though perhaps overdone).

77.  This demarcation between the state of the house and the physical care of the children on the one hand and the children’s emotional needs on the other is an artificial barrier and unhelpful when the complex needs of a child are being considered.

78.  The house was the environment in which the children lived.  The stench pervaded the home and even outside the home.  The children slept there, their food was prepared their, they ate there, bathed there, lived there.   The home was filthy and cockroach infested. Cockroaches overran where the children, walked, sat, eat and slept.   The state of the house had probably deteriorated over months.  Even allowing for some delay with the home being abandoned while the pest exterminators came in, the efforts to rectify the situation were tardy.

79.  To draw a distinction between physical and emotional needs may be useful for research purpose, writing a book or identifying or breaking down a particular problem into its component parts for discussion, it is unhelpful when the children’s needs as a whole have to be catered for.  

80.  It is quite unclear what were the emotional needs of the children that so burdened Ms Young that contributed to the house reaching (and remaining) in its putrid state.   Children will always going to have emotional needs of one sort or another.   Ms Young, in my view has an unexplained tendency towards indolence and needs no encouragement to feel complacent about it under the guise of being a caring parent who is meeting the children’s emotional needs.   

81. The primary emotional need a child has is the security of knowing and experiencing the loving care of competent adult who is able to consistently respond to the child’s needs.    In my view the state of the house was merely a reflection (and it may have been the most obvious one) that Ms Young was not coping.   In continue to expose the children to those unsatisfactory living conditions she was meeting neither the children physical or emotional needs.

82. I accept that sometimes we get a little complacent about how stressful being involved in a court case and evidence can be.  Ms Young did become distressed while giving evidence and trailing over what for her were emotionally difficult past issues. Her own accountability seemed to be a particular area of sensitivity.  The experience of having to testify and the pressures that this concerned the future of her children did act on her mind and cause her considerable stress.   However, I also infer that a significant factor that led to the deterioration in the living conditions for the children the added responsibility of looking after the children when at other times of the year they would be at school.

The status quo argument

83.  To approach the matter from a perspective of preserving the status quo, is, in my view, unhelpful in this case.  The placement with the mother has been extended from a one effectively of shared parents between the parents to full time care under an interim order placing the children in the care of the Minister. It has been the Minister’s decision not the court’s that has created the status quo. (Clearly the court has supported the Minister’s decision).  The children have moved relatively easily between the two households.  If the welfare of the children was such as to justify their removal from Ms Young’s care this should not be turned away from in order to preserve a status quo.

The child Nathan

84.  This child is not the subject of these proceedings and accordingly the court is not concerned to consider his welfare.  As a part sibling he is too young for his views to be taken into account.  The matter does however assume some importance because the child is the subject of a short-term order and M Young’s expressed intention is to have the child returned to her care.  Her capacity to care for these children along with the responsibility of a fourth and younger child may well compromise her capacity to care for any child.  Athough I have no role in decision concerning another child, I feel compelled to make some assessment of the possibility of Nathan’s restoration and its impact on these children if it was to happen.

85.  The care of Nathan (on the information available to this court) was unsatisfactory in the extreme and no less so because it largely replicated the deplorable state Tristan’s care. Even after Nathan’s removal during the short periods of contact with Ms Young there was significant deterioration in the child’s care.  It was not as if Tristan’s own history of neglect was not known to the authorities when Nathan came along. I do not have confidence that Ms Young even as at now has any real insight into her contribution to the failure to thrive of Nathan and Tristan. Her explanations for the rapid deterioration in Nathan’s health during access, rather than bringing some understanding as to how this had occurred, just reinforced the court’s opinion that she was incapable (for reasons that yet remain unclear) of responding promptly and appropriately – and to the child’s detriment.

86.  It should not be overlooked the seriousness of the situation regarding Tristan and Nathan.  The clinician (p.4) refers to the “potentially fatal neglect of her children” and (p.33,34) – “He (Tristan) was left for most of his day in a cot and nappy that were wet and dirty, he was malnourished on half strength formula, unresponsive, too weak to cry unstimulated and unloved.  The outcome of his neglect could have been death and it was very fortunate that some interested person made a notification to DCS which resulted in a house call…”  Despite this history, Nathan seemed to fall through the welfare protection net. 

87.  When the current and past issues of these older children are taken into account along with the period that Nathan has been in out of home care, I do not consider the return of Nathan to the full time of Mrs Young to be likely.   If Nathan were to return to Ms Young’s care the position of all children would require reassessment.

The Department’s recommendation

88.  The Department now seeks an order of joint parental responsibility shared between the Minister and Ms Young, save as to residence where sole parental responsibility is sought to be allocated to the Minister.

89.  The rationale behind this recommendation is to enable (or require) the Department to maintain direct input into decisions concerning the daily lives of the children.   A clear court mandate for intervention can be vital for effective management of child protection cases.  Here sole parental responsibility is sought to be reserved to the Minister in respect of “residence” so that the Minister has the legal authority to make decisions as to the children’s residence and if necessary to remove the children.  There is presently no proposal to do so. 

90.  The mother opposes this recommendation and seeks sole parental responsibility except as to contact and that is to be shared jointly with the Minister.

91.  The practical implications of what is proposed by the Department is that the mother would continue to exercise day to day care of the children against a background of joint decision making on any major issues (education, serious medical concerns, services for the children etc.).  Mutual co-operation would be fundamental and there would need to be clarification of areas of responsibility.  While it may be unusual for substantial components of parental responsibility be shared in this way but it is an option envisaged in the legislation.

92.  Recent events have shown that Ms Young can be secretive and certainly ineffectual in drawing attention to a seriously deteriorating situation as well as her own inability to remedy it.  The (second hand) claim that Ms Young approached DOCS in mid December and requested help with housework (Report of Karen Dempsey) I reject.   If there was any informal call, it certainly did not convey a sense of urgency. Given that DOCS has never provided assistance of that nature in the past it seems implausible that Ms Young would approach DOCS rather than one of the other agencies she is involved with.

93.  Dealing with alternatives to the allocation of parental responsibility, I find that the acceptance of undertakings given by the mother pursuant to s.73 (either alone or in combination with other orders) would be a wholly inadequate response.   A supervision order provides for monitoring but does not ensure responsive decision making by a parent. The distinction between the supervision order and an order of parental responsibility is highlighted in the English case of Re S (J)(A minor) (Care or Supervision Order) (l993) 2 FLR 919 at 957 –

“What is needed here is a local authority social worker with a duty to be constantly looking at the safety of the child as a parent would; in other words, looking at it with parental responsibility obligations, not simply with supervisor’s obligations”.

94.  What the Department is seeking here does impose onerous obligations on the Department.  I find that an order accepting undertakings from the mother and/or a supervision order to be a wholly inadequate to secure the children’s safety and welfare.   This should be can be achieved appropriately by an order of joint parental responsibility between the mother and Minister.

95. The particularly contentious recommendation of the Department is for sole parental responsibility in respect of “residence”.  I have considered this course closely but ultimately have decided against it for the following reasons.

96. The Department has the legislative authority to remove the children in circumstances where the pre-conditions are made out (ss 34,36,37,43,44). Temporary crises could be dealt with by a voluntary temporary care arrangement (s.151).  These then are the limits that Parliament has expressly set authorising intervention under this legislation.  The legal authority to remove these children that is sought to be reserved to the Minister, by inference, must be aimed at circumstances of less seriousness or less urgency than is already provided for.  

97.  An order for sole responsibility in respect of residence would seem to provide protection against a prosecution for unauthorised removal (s.229) but it is unclear that it provides the authority that the Director General is seeking for removal.  It remains unclear to the court whether sole parental responsibility for residence would authorise, in any event, a forceful removal (and without the consent of the child if this would exceed the limits acceptable chastisement that are implicit in the duties of a guardian).  It is certainly doubtful that a right of parental responsibility would authorise entry to premises to effect removal (except perhaps in circumstances of “necessity”).   I remain unclear in my mind how in practice a continuing joint parental responsibility for other matters (for day to day care, health, medical attention) could possibly operate in a co-operative way (or if at all) with Ms Young if the children were removed against her wishes.

98.  I certainly could see greater the merits of the Department’s submissions if the facts established a high risk of immediate physical harm or of other emergency. In such a case however one would have to seriously ask why would a child be in such a dangerous household at all? 

99.  The strength of a care order as an incentive for compliance was referred to also in Re(S) (above at p.951) –

“…in a care order the carer knows that non-compliance can result in the child being taken away. Even though that is not likely to happen in practice, the knowledge that legally it can happen must be a useful sanction in obtaining compliance with a care plan…”

100. In the circumstances of Ms Linda Young, I think this is a questionable strategy and could well be counter-productive.    The fear that the children could be removed suddenly and by administrative decision only would be likely to induce in her a level of continuing anxiety that may well tap her capabilities and also encourage her to be secretive and not seek attention when she and the children need it.  It may challenge the spirit of openness between the Department and other agencies working closely with the mother. 

101.  A further significant factor against adopting of this recommendation, arises from the awareness the children have of these proceedings.  I believe that it is inevitable that information would be conveyed from some source to the children that their sudden removal was a possibility and this would have the serious effect of undermining their sense of security. 

102. I propose that there be joint parental responsibility in this matter (“residence”) also.

103. For the purposes of s.79(3), I have considered the principle in section 9(d) and am satisfied that no other order would be sufficient to meet the need for care of the children.

104. I am accept that the basic argument of the Department that a mandate upon which to base effective case management is necessary.  I am concerned however that the ultimate authority sought is one that could result in the child being removed without immediate court oversight and turning the term of what is an order of long duration.  It is clear that different people genuinely have very different perspectives in this matter.  That is likely to continue.  

105. I have emphasised already that if circumstances are such that removal of the children is already authorised by law, then this order is no barrier to that option.  If the order proves to be unworkable (and I trust this will not be the case) or no longer working in the children’s interests, a further application can be made to the court to vary or rescind the order and I propose to outline the basis of my findings to assist in identifying any future “significant change of relevant circumstances”.   

106.  Importantly, where there is an order for joint parental responsibility between the Minister and another person, and a dispute arises as to the exercise of that responsibility, the legislation already provides a remedy for this contingency. In the case of such dispute the court is empowered by order to resolve any disagreement.  There has not to my knowledge been an occasion for the court to exercise this authority but one would have confidence that the court would be as responsive as the urgency of the case required.    There is also an option available for the court to review an order following upon a report required pursuant to s.82.

107.  Should it be necessary at some future time for a court to consider if there has been a significant change of relevant circumstances then I would broadly outline the expectations against which these orders have been made that –

(a) the mother and Department will be able to work co-operatively in making decisions concerning the children’s upbringing;

(b) the mother will continue to provide a  satisfactory standard of care for the children on a sustained basis and that she will utilise (including being open and honest with them) to the full advantage the various services, agencies and advice that are offered to her;

(c)  the necessary services required to assist the children will continue to be available;

(d)  Ms Young will promptly seek assistance if she has difficulty coping with the children’s care;

(e)  in particular, the children’s hygiene and presentation at school is satisfactory; 

(f)  any special needs of the children will continue to be properly addressed;

(g)  if any further assessments are required that the mother will co-operate fully with them;

(h)  the Department will continue to be the co-ordinating body and will exercise that role with as sufficient promptness as the circumstances as the case requires including initiating regular reviews of objectives and progress in achieving them (and involve other agencies in that process) ;

(i)  monitoring of progress will involve visits to the home and talking to the children; and

(j)  that ultimately that these orders provide Ms Young with the privilege and responsibility to raise her children and at the same time provide the Minister with a mandate to address the child protection issues in the interests of the children.

108. Although s.8l(2) strictly only applies where there is an order of sole responsibility in favour of the Minister, I would request that the “spirit” of the provision might be applied in the case of Mr Young by keeping him informed of important matters concerning the children’s welfare, such as health and educational progress.

The court’s ongoing concerns
109.  The issue of a further assessment (or assessments) has been raised and I would endorse that course. The court has concerns that suggest that the deplorable state of the home may be merely (and I use that term advisedly) a reflection of deeper issues.  I do not suggest that this assessment be immediately embarked upon.  While there have been very detailed assessments in the past they have generally occurred under the pressure of litigation. There is an advantage in Southern Cross being given a chance to make progress, for the reasons for this decision to be digested and the “dust to settle” on this latest round of litigation. 

110.  All the children have their own issues.  Problems with school (after terrific gains) are starting again with Ryan. Ryan has earlier acquired a diagnosis of ADD but certainly there were other opinions. In the Far West Children’s assessment the child said he had “oppositional behaviour disorder” but couldn’t explain what it meant. The assessment of that body describes his presentation as “very interesting” and that certain of his features are “consistent with features of an Asperger’s Syndrome”. It is a provisional diagnosis. Yet by the time the news travels to Karen Dempsey (Exh 31) any reservation has been removed (“his recent diagnosis of Aspergers”).  The Far West Children’s assessment concluded that “environmental factors may well be influencing Ryan’s behaviour”.   Ms Young is attracted by jargon and labels and it is important that disinformation be avoided by the Department playing a central role in the exchange of reliable information between agencies.  

111.  The same report makes important recommendations in the area of speech pathology, occupational therapy and physiotherapy.  It is crucial that progress in meeting these goals is closely monitored and appropriate referrals made if the benefit of this assessment is to help the child.   Ryan is the child who has had the most exposure to his parent’s dysfunction.

112.  If Serena comes along to school or mixed with other children smelling as her  grandmother described (I accept her evidence to be accurate), and dresses to look like “Raggedy-Ann”, then her social development is going to be impeded and she will have a difficult time with peers.  I feel that the child is in need of a good role model. Serena will miss out on the assistance that the boys will get from Southern Cross.  She really needs something special to happen for her.  Whether this is by way of sport, dancing, guides, a mentor, I do not know, but something should be considered in this regard.

113.  The important thing with Tristan is to monitor his progress in all aspects of his development for warning signs of the adverse effects of the neglect in his early life (or his current environment). 

114.  A combination of factors in Ms Linda Young background raises concerns for me. Her disengagement from the educational process at school, failed relationships, estrangement from her own family, the “failure to thrive” of two children (the dynamics of this can be complex but it seems to extend both to a physical and emotional disengagement from the baby and insensitivity to the baby’s needs), and her inability to protect the children from exposure to Mr Young’s violence, all give rise to concerns as to the nature and strength of her emotional relationship with each of the children and her capability to be responsive to their emotional needs.  

115. I gained no sense, that in relation to the this most recent incident, in her discussion with others there were “alarm bells” going off in Ms Young’s head saying “my children are feeling really badly about living in these terrible conditions I have to do something about it”.  An inability to identify with children or express empathy with their feelings is, in the court’s experience, never very far removed from cases involving serious neglect.  If a parent is not attuned to a child’s feelings and cannot be empathic with those feelings, the parent is less likely to be motivated to alter the child’s situation or if some change is made, to be attuned as to whether this has been a positive change for the child.

116.  Mr Stubbs in his affidavit of the 26th February 2004 raises much the same concerns of a link between neglect of the home and the emotional needs of the children.  He refers to unspecified feedback from Karen Dempsey as providing support “on Linda’s ability to provide for the emotional needs of her children despite the strong evidence that Linda has not been able to provide an appropriate standard of care in the family home.”  As I read the report of Karen Dempsey (exh 3l) there has been less opportunity in recent times to make that evaluation, if indeed M/s Dempsey is well placed to do so.

117.  Due recognition must be given for Ms Young’s past conscientious efforts and her very willing co-operations with various agencies.  All these factors can be balances up in a comprehensive assessment that may give a detailed overview for future case management (as well as addressing specific issues).

Contact

118.  It is difficult to make contact orders in the context of comparatively young children where what is proposed is a long-term order.  The court is reluctant to impede effective case management by an inflexible determination concerning contact that may become increasingly inappropriate as the child develops.  I feel that the Departmental officers have made in the past very responsible and balanced decisions and I have confidence they will continue to do so in the future.   It is preferable that case management options (that will need to be adjusted to meet changing circumstances of the children) should not be cut off by a contact order that robs those options of the desired flexibility.

119.  Because of the poor relationship between Mr.Young and Ms Young, the Department should take up the major role of decision making in this area. Accordingly, I propose an order of reasonable contract to the father on such conditions as are determined by the Director-General.   By way of comment only I would tend towards supporting the position of the children’s legal representative of a slower pace towards fortnightly overnight contact in the early stages if this change has not already occurred.    I feel that Mr Young will be less comfortable with this decision that he said in court. I also feel that Mrs Sue Young is rather emotionally fragile and that relationship is still under a great deal of stress.

120.  There would be conditions for contact (including) along the lines that Mr Young would protect the children from being exposed to heated arguments or any violent incidents.  He would not criticise the children’s mother in front of the children and not solicit information from them about their home life.  Neither Mr Young nor Mrs Sue Young should be affected by cannabis or use cannabis while exercising contact. If things are going well then additional contact periods could be added. The children should have a contact telephone number of someone they can call on if they feel uncomfortable about any developments on contact.

121.  Additionally there should be some scope for the paternal grandmother to have contact with the children in addition to that which occurs when the children see Mr Young.  This present arrangement impedes the development in a natural way of a relationship between grandchild and grandparent.

Order

122. The order of the Children’s Court of 2nd May 2002 is varied by deleting the allocation of parental responsibility to Mr Young for 2 years, and substituting for it an Order allocating parental responsibility for each child to Ms Young and the Minister jointly (S.79(1)(a)(ii)) until each child attains the age of l8 years.

123.  I direct that a report pursuant to s.82(2) be made within 6 months concerning the suitability for care and protection of the children.  A copy of that report is to be served upon the children’s legal representative.

124.  I make a contract order in respect of each child for reasonable contact to Mr Young the frequency of which and the conditions of which are to be determined by the Director-General.
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